
 

 
www.eden.gov.uk 

Rose Rouse 
Chief Executive 

Date: 5 March 2020 
 
 
 
 

Town Hall, Penrith, Cumbria CA11 7QF 

Tel: 01768 817817 

Email: cttee.admin@eden.gov.uk 

 
 
Dear Councillor J Derbyshire  
 

Housing and Health Portfolio Holder Meeting Agenda - 13 March 
2020 
 

A meeting is to be held with Officers at 9.30 am, on Friday, 13 March 2020, in the 
Laburnum Room, Mansion House to consider the following matters: 
 

1   Declarations of Interest   
 
To receive declarations of the existence and nature of any private interests, both 
disclosable pecuniary interests and any other registrable interests, in any matter to 
be considered or being considered. 
 

2   Joint Tenancy Strategy Update (with SLDC)  (Pages 3 - 26) 
 
To consider report PP12/20 from the Assistant Director Community Services which 
seeks to inform the Housing and Health Portfolio Holder of the updated joint 
Tenancy Strategy with South Lakeland District Council, which has recently be 
circulated for consultation with the local Registered Providers of social 
accommodation in the South Lakeland and Eden Districts. 
 
It is a requirement for all Local Authorities to publish a strategy as stipulated by the 
Localism Act 2011. This update references up to date figures and information. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS that: 
 
the updated Tenancy Strategy is published on the Council’s website. 
 

 
Yours sincerely 

 
Rose Rouse 
Chief Executive 
 
Democratic Services Contact:  
 
Encs 
 



 

www.eden.gov.uk 2 

For Attention 
 
Portfolio Holder – Councillor J Derbyshire 
 
For Information by Email to: - All remaining Members of the Council 
 



 

www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

www.eden.gov.uk 

South Lakeland District Council & 

Eden District Council 

Tenancy Strategy Update 2019 

 

Contents 

Review .................................................................................................................................. 2 

Our vision .............................................................................................................................. 2 

Our values ............................................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Our priorities .......................................................................................................................... 2 

Tenancy Strategy summary of recommendations ................................................................. 3 

Key changes since our 2013 Tenancy Strategy .................................................................... 4 

Housing and Planning Act 2016 update .......................................................................... 4 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 key measures ......................................................... 5 

Future ............................................................................................................................. 5 

Monitor and Review............................................................................................................... 5 

Effects of fixed term tenancies ........................................................................................ 6 

Homeless presentations ................................................................................................. 6 

Rent levels and prevailing incomes................................................................................. 7 

Allocation policy .............................................................................................................. 9 

Registered Provider development and rent levels ........................................................ 10 

Registered Provider policy decisions regarding use of flexible tenancies ..................... 12 

Monitoring ........................................................................................................................... 13 

References .......................................................................................................................... 13 

Glossary .............................................................................................................................. 14 

 

  

Page  3

Agenda Item 2

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


 

2 

1 Background 

1.1  Section 150 of the Localism Act 2011 requires Local Authorities to prepare and 

publish a Tenancy Strategy setting out the matters to which Registered Providers 

(RPs) of social housing for its district are to have regard in formulating policies 

relating to: 

(a) the kinds of tenancies they grant, 

(b) the circumstances in which they will grant a tenancy of a particular kind, 

(c) where they grant tenancies for a term certain, the lengths of the terms, and 

(d) the circumstances in which they will grant a further tenancy on the coming 

to an end of an existing tenancy. 

1.2 Local Authorities need to consult with RPs on any modifications to the Tenancy 

Strategy. South Lakeland District Council and Eden District Council published the 

current Tenancy Strategy in 2013. 

2 Review 

2.1 Section 150 of the Localism Act 2011 provides for Local Authorities to review their 

Tenancy Strategy from time to time. In carrying out a review of our Tenancy Strategy 

published in 2013 we have taken into account recent changes in legislation and 

relevant strategies as noted within this document. Our findings are detailed below.  

2.2 Although there are some updates there are no substantive changes to our Tenancy 

Strategy and as such recommendations to our Registered Provider (RPs) partners 

remain largely unchanged from the Tenancy Strategy 2013 (Appendix C) in addition 

to any points highlighted in this update. We have summarised the main points in this 

document but do not intend to wholly duplicate the 2013 Strategy.  

3 Our vision 

3.1 South Lakeland District Council - Working together to make South Lakeland the best 

place to live, work and explore.  

3.2 Eden District Council - A place where people act together to meet the needs of all 

and ensure the wellbeing of future generations (EDC Council Plan 2019-2023) 

4 Our priorities 

 Sustainable communities: to ensure that the Tenancy Strategy supports stability 

within communities. There is a risk that using flexible/fixed term tenancies may have 

Page  4



 

3 

an adverse effect by moving households on which can then cause wider implications 

for schools, shops and businesses. 

 Making best use of stock: there is a need to address under occupation and 

overcrowding, make better use of adapted properties and enable RPs to make best 

use of their stock. 

 Assist vulnerable households and reduce risk of homelessness: to ensure that 

Tenancy Policies introduced by RPs do not have an adverse effect on vulnerable 

households nor increase homelessness. This links with other strategies, i.e. the 

Homelessness Strategy, Housing Strategy and the wider agenda around health and 

wellbeing. 

5 Tenancy Strategy summary of recommendations  

5.1 Our recommendations remain largely the same as our original Tenancy Strategy. 

These are set out at Appendix C of this Strategy Update and aim to meet the 

priorities outlined above.  

5.2 In summary;  

 Sustainable communities: the recommendations set out that where flexible/fixed 

term tenancies are used that they are renewed, last a minimum of five years and 

are not used in rural areas outside of Key Service Centres. Additionally, any 

conversions from a social rent to a higher affordable should be in most cases 

limited to the Key Service Centres. 

 Making best use of stock: the recommendations set out that where there are 

under occupying households that options and incentives are made available and 

similarly for overcrowded households to ensure best use is made of housing 

stock. 

 Assist vulnerable households and reduce the risk of homelessness: the 

recommendations set out that Tenancy Policies operated by RPs do not 

adversely affect vulnerable households, nor increase homelessness. In particular, 

where a tenancy is coming to an end RPs need to make an early referral to the 

Council’s Housing Options service to explore other options to prevent 

homelessness. 

5.3 Provided that Registered Providers follow the recommendations in Appendix C, the 

expected outcomes will be that tenancies will be maintained and provided at a rent 

that can be afforded thereby minimising the risk of homelessness and instability 

within our communities. Better use will be made of existing stock by encouraging 

under occupiers to downsize to accommodation that is better suited to their needs 

where this is possible. These outcomes will then help to achieve the key priorities.  

5.4 The above priorities are consistent with the new SLDC Homelessness Strategy 

2019/2024, Allocations Scheme (Cumbria Choice), Cumbria Housing Statement 

2017, South Lakeland District Council Housing Strategy 2016/2025 and the National 

Housing Strategy. Eden DC and SDLC are reviewing their Housing 

Page  5



 

4 

Strategies. Achieving these priorities cannot be done in isolation and it is expected 

that RPs, in having regard to the Tenancy Strategy will help to achieve these aims, 

together with the implementation of the aforementioned Strategies. 

6 Key changes since our 2013 Tenancy Strategy  

6.1 We have seen the implementation of legislation which affects the provision of 

housing, such as; the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and Housing and Planning 

Act 2016. The imposition by The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 of a 1% 

reduction on rents charged by social housing providers from April 2016 for four years 

will have affected investment in properties and development. A 3% stamp duty 

charge imposed on ‘buy to lets’ in the private sector could impact the private letting 

sector either by reduction in supply or increase in rents charged.  

6.2 The Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) became ‘Homes England’ in January 

2018 (funding and development programmes introduced in 2011 and 2015 were 

launched under the HCA title). South Lakeland District Council has a revised 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2017 (‘SHMA’) and has a new Homelessness 

Strategy. Eden District Council completed a District Wide Housing Needs Survey 

(DWHNS) at the end of 2018 and has developed a revised Homelessness Strategy. 

7 Housing and Planning Act 2016 update 

7.1 A Parliamentary Bulletin1 published September 27th 2018 provided the Government’s 

current view on the Housing and Planning Act: 

 Fixed Term tenancies: the requirement to only offer fixed term tenancies has 

been dropped. The Government has no current plans to end secure ‘life time’ 

tenancies. Research shows that the Government feels that to impose fixed term 

tenancies may affect the stability of households and have a negative impact on 

communities 

 Regulations to reduce regulation of housing associations came into effect 16th 

November 2017 

 Voluntary Right to Buy for housing association tenants is not fully in force and a 

pilot project is being undertaken before the Government makes a final decision, 

some of the funding elements are in place 

 Higher Rent for higher income tenants: the Government has decided not to 

proceed with a compulsory approach. 

7.2 Taking into account the Government’s current views ensuring sustainable 

communities, our key recommendations continue to be the avoidance of; fixed term 

                                            

1 Parliamentary Bulletin: https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8229  

 

Page  6

https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8229


 

5 

tenancies and voluntary right to buy especially in rural areas. To this end we expect 

RPs to ensure rents remain at an affordable level in comparison with local incomes 

particularly in rural areas.  

8 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 key measures 

8.1 This Act came into force on 3rd April 2018 and made a number of changes. It revised 

and placed a number of duties on local authorities including: the extension of time 

frame to assist those threatened with homelessness within 28 days to 56 days, the 

prevention and relief of homelessness even if applicant is not in priority need, a duty 

on public services to refer applicants suspected to be homeless or at risk of losing 

their home and to agree a personalised plan.  

8.2 South Lakeland District Council’s new Homelessness Strategy 2019/2024 sets out 

how the Council will implement the Act and the priorities to prevent homelessness, 

increase the supply of settled accommodation, ensure that the right support is 

available to those that need it and to tackle complex needs. A key part of this 

Homelessness Strategy is partnership working; with RPs, statutory and third sector 

agencies. 

9 Future 

9.1 Amongst other proposals, the Government is considering removing the Section 21 

Housing Act 1988 ‘Notice Requiring Possession’ provision; a landlord’s ability to end 

an assured shorthold tenancy without providing a reason. The Government are 

currently analyzing the consultation responses. If this goes through it will impact on 

the ability to regain possession of a property on an assured shorthold tenancy for 

both private landlords and RPs. This could have other consequences such as a 

reduction in supply of private rentals which could increase the demand for and 

impose more pressure on the provision of affordable housing.  

10 Monitor and Review 

10.1 Our Tenancy Strategy 2013 stated that we would review the main points below. 

These are considered in the remainder of this document: 

 Effects of fixed term tenancies 

 Homeless presentations 

 Rent levels and prevailing incomes 

 Allocations policy 

 RPs (‘RP’) developments and rent levels 

 RP policy decisions regarding fixed and flexible tenancies. 

Page  7



 

6 

11 Effects of fixed term tenancies 

11.1 In line with the Government’s current stance of keeping ‘life time’ tenancies and our 

Tenancy Strategy, we request that RPs avoid the use of fixed term tenancies where 

possible. However, our recommendations are made on the assumption that RPs may 

wish to make use of fixed term tenancies in certain circumstances. As such the 

council would not be opposed as long as the use of fixed term/ flexible tenancies is in 

line with our recommendations (Appendix C) and primarily be within Key Service 

Centres rather than rural areas. 

11.2 We carried out a survey in January 2019 of our largest RPs in the area (Appendix A). 

In the South Lakeland area only Home Group Ltd has been using fixed term 

tenancies and has granted 38 since 2012. Of these only two have not been renewed. 

SLDC homelessness statistics show below, that there have been no homeless 

applications following eviction by an RP resulting from the end of a fixed term 

tenancy.  

11.3 These figures show that currently there is minimal impact on homeless applications 

following the ending of fixed terms tenancies by RPs. However, when RPs consider 

the use of fixed term tenancies, we reiterate our recommendations in Appendix C 

and that RPs take into account factors contained in Appendix B when considering 

using and ending fixed terms tenancies. Our recommendations are aimed at 

maintaining stable communities and protecting rural communities. 

12 Homeless presentations 

Year Homeless 
applications 

Homeless 
acceptances 

Eligible 
homeless 
(not in 
priority 
need) 

Advice & 
assistance 
(outcomes 
recorded) 

Advice & 
assistance  
(no outcome 
recorded) 

Total 
presentations 

2012/2013 82 27 26 15 29 126 

2013/2014 40 15 7 402 51 493 

2014/2015 15 4 2 340 32 387 

2015/2016 42 26 5 289 18 349 

2016/2017 102 22 30 312 15 429 

2017/2018 158 47 34 425 22 605 

Total 439 141 104 1783 167 2389 

SLDC Homelessness Review 2018 

Year Number of Households 
accessing Council’s 
Homelessness 
Services 

Number of homeless 
applications received 

Number of 
household’s whom a 
full duty is owed 

2013/2014 189 43 2 

2014/2015 228 31 4 

2015/2016 179 33 4 

Page  8



 

7 

2016/2017 141 22 8 

2017/2018 143 27 3 

Total 880 156 30 

EDC Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Statistics 

12.1 SLDC’s Homelessness Review figures above reflect national increases from 2016. 

SLDC’s Review illustrated that homeless presentations in the South Lakeland area 

are predominantly due to loss of rented or tied accommodation. This covers all 

tenures but rent arrears was not an attributable factor. In Eden the highest number of 

presentations are from single people, aged 25-34. As in South Lakeland, the ending 

of a private rented tenancy is the most common reason for leaving their last settled 

accommodation. 

12.2 SLDC’s Homelessness Review showed that since April 2018, out of 100 

presentations from tenants (irrespective of whether we owed a duty towards them), 

86 were private tenants and 14 were social housing tenants. In Eden during the 

financial year 2018/19, 56 presentations were from private rented sector tenants and 

16 social housing tenants. A further 39 applications were from people where their 

family or friends were no longer able to accommodate them.  

12.3  Further, there was a total of 3,453 households registered on SLDC’s Housing 

Register (Cumbria Choice Based Lettings) at 31st March 2019, of which 908 

applicants were in the priority category bands A – C. During the period April-June 

2019, there were 81 lettings made (Cumbria Choice Project Board Report). For Eden 

there were 1,601 active applicants (as at June 2019) and 230 were classed as being 

in priority need (bands A-C) and during the period April 2019-June 2019, 64 lettings 

had been made (as per Cumbria Choice Project Board Reports). These figures 

demonstrate a significant disparity between availability of low cost housing to rent 

and those in housing need.  

12.4 The figures contained in SLDC’s Homelessness Review illustrate the importance of 

ensuring RPs are cautious when using fixed term tenancies and ensure that a 

considered approach is taken when not renewing a tenancy. This is also the case for 

Eden as shown in EDC’s Homelessness Review. Our key recommendation is that 

where an RP is considering possession proceedings that a referral is made to the 

Councils’ Housing Options services so that work can be undertaken with the tenant 

to reduce the risk of homelessness as outlined in each authorities’ Homelessness 

Strategy. This would operate as an early warning system and is currently in place for 

one of the Council RPs but needs to be extended to all RPs operating in South 

Lakeland and Eden. 

13 Rent levels and prevailing incomes 

13.1  The SLDC SHMA 2017 (page 6) shows that 29% of households in the South 

Lakeland area have an income insufficient to meet social rents without subsidy. The 

report also illustrates that an annual income of £21,500 would be needed to access a 

Page  9



 

8 

private letting.  Eden District Council’s District Wide Housing Need Survey (2018) 

identified that a household income of £20,205 would be required to access social 

letting accommodation within the Eden District. Additionally, data gathered in 2019 

revealed that approximately 9% of households within the Eden area and 6.9% in the 

SLDC area have an annual income of under £10,000 (CACI Paycheck 2018).   

13.2 With big statutory changes to the ‘buy to let’ market, such as; the stamp duty 

increase, the removal of agents charging tenant fees, Fitness for Habitation Act, 

Energy Efficiency regulations etc. these will inevitably push up market rent levels and 

potentially reduce supply.  

13.3 The figures in the tables below show that even at the lower quartile figures, 

households reliant on welfare benefits to assist with rental payments will find 

themselves having to meet a short fall in payments each month. Welfare benefit 

payments to help with rents are paid 4 weekly whereas most private letting rents are 

payable per month.  The weekly Local Housing Allowance Levels as at January 

2019: 

South Lakeland: 

Broad Market 
Area 

Shared 
accommodation  

1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 

Barrow in 
Furness (includes 
Ulverston) 

£67.10  
(£268.10 per 4 
weeks) 

£78.00 
(£312 per 4 
weeks) 

£92.05 
(£368.20 
per 4 
weeks) 

£110.47 
(£441.88 per 
4 weeks) 

£136.93 
(£547.72 per 4 
weeks) 

Kendal £62.50  
(£250 per 4 
weeks) 

£96.91 
(£387.64 
per 4 
weeks) 

£123.58 
(£494.32 
per 4 
weeks) 

£145.67 
(£582.68 per 
4 weeks) 

£174.81 
(£699.24 per 4 
weeks) 

Valuation Office Agency 

Eden: 

(Please note: There are two separate Broad Rental Market Areas in Eden. These are called 'North Cumbria' and 'West 

Cumbria' which applies to the Threlkeld area) 

Broad Market 
Area 

Shared 
Accommodation 

1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 

North 
Cumbria 

£58.90 
(£255.23 per 
calendar 
month) 

£80.55 
(£349.05 per 
calendar 
month) 

£94.39 
(£409.02 per 
calendar 
month) 

£112.77 
(£488.67 per 
calendar 
month) 

£141.24 
(£612.04 per 
calendar 
month) 

West 
Cumbria 

£65.16 
(£282.32 per 
calendar 
month) 

£79.24 
(£343.37 per 
calendar 
month) 

£92.05 
(£398.88 per 
calendar 
month) 

£104.89 
(£454.52 per 
calendar 
month) 

£134.02 
(£580.75 per 
calendar 
month) 

Eden District Council’s website 

  

Page  10



 

9 

13.4 Lower quartile private rental figures per month (2016 figures): 

Area  Room 
only  

1 bed  2 bed 3 bed All dwellings 

South Lakeland 
(Valuation Office Agency 2017/18) 

£301 £460 £575 £650 £550 

Cartmel Peninsula n/a 375 510 656 505 

Central Lakes n/a 450 575 695 565 

Dales n/a 390 470 535 480 

Kendal n/a 455 565 645 510 

Kendal Rural n/a 385 540 600 515 

Ulverston & Furness n/a 370 510 580 490 

Eden (Valuation Office Agency 
2019) 

£368 £380 £477 £550 £477 

Per HMA (as identified by EDC’s District Wide Housing Need Survey (2018)) 

Penrith Urban n/a n/a n/a n/a £494 

Penrith Rural n/a n/a n/a n/a £594 

Appleby n/a n/a n/a n/a £451 

Kirkby Stephen n/a n/a n/a n/a £451 

Alston n/a n/a n/a n/a £377 

West of M6 n/a n/a n/a n/a £524 

Lake District National Park n/a 450 565 670 555 

Yorkshire Dales National Park n/a 395 465 525 480 

SLDC’s Homelessness Review 2018, Valuation Office Agency & EDC’s District Wide 

Housing Need Survey (2018) 

13.5 When factoring the percentage of affordable rent levels to be charged on conversion 

following a re-let, our Strategy requires that RPs take into account affordability and 

local salary/income levels. Those reliant on welfare benefits to assist paying rent in 

such rural locations may be unable to get employment sufficient to sustain affordable 

rents and result in continued reliance on welfare assistance. 

13.6 Figures shown on page 18 of our 2013 Strategy illustrated that in 20 years we may 

no longer have social rented homes available. The tables above show the continued 

need for low cost rented accommodation and the allocation of such homes needs to 

take into account those on lower incomes whilst sustaining a mixture of residents in 

the community. However, in terms of using affordable rents, consideration could be 

given to permitting preference to working households who are able to afford the full 

80% affordable rent as suggested in the Government’s Housing Strategy, which also 

ensures a mixture of households in communities. 

14 Allocation policy 

14.1 The Allocation policy was reviewed and published in 2016. This is due to be 

reviewed again in 2019/2020 following recent changes in legislation outlined in this 

document. Until this is reviewed the Councils’ Recommendations have not changed 

since the Tenancy Strategy 2013.   

Page  11



 

10 

15 Registered Provider development and rent levels 

15.1 Number of new affordable homes  

South Lakeland: 

Year Number of new homes (RP Rental Unit Completions only) 

2013/14 51 

2014/15 155 

2015/16 62 

2016/17 73 

2017/18 81 

Total 422 

SLDC Stats 

Eden): 

Year Number of new homes (All 
Affordable Tenures) 

Approximate Rental Units* 

2013/14 32 22 

2014/15 24 17 

2015/16 52 36 

2016/17 34 24 

2017/18 37 26 

Total 179 125 

EDC Completion Stats 

(*Please note: As stated in EDC’s Local Plan the initial preference for the mix of affordable units on developments within 
the Eden area is for 70% affordable rented units and 30% intermediate units. However, figures shown in this column are 
approximate as there is flexibility around this and advice will be given on a case by case basis). 

 
15.2 The rent reductions mandated in the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 (and 

respective regulations) will come to an end in April 2020. RPs will thereafter be able 

to increase rent levels in accordance with regulations. The Government also 

announced a number of measures within their Spring Statement 2019 to assist RPs 

with funding for development of affordable housing. Whilst this provides some relief 

to our RP partners in terms of investment in properties and future development, 

which we support, we request that our RPs are mindful of rent levels increasing out 

of line with local incomes, particularly in rural areas to ensure rents stay at a level 

which sustains a mixture of residents in communities. 

15.3 Our January 2019 survey was used to gauge use of affordable rents. All the main 

RPs in this area currently charge affordable rents. The results are in the table below. 

Page  12



 

11 

Housing Stock Home 
Group 

South Lakes 
Housing 

Castles and 
Coasts HA 

Eden HA Impact HA Riverside HA 

Total stock in 
SLDC area:  

592 3,152 625 (420 
general needs) 

63 350 (excluding 
Shared 
Ownership 
and Managing 
Agent 
properties) 

0 

Total Stock in EDC 
area: 

23 
Affordable 
Rent  
76 Social 
Rent 
24 Shared 
Ownership 
11 
Supported 
30 
Leasehold 
(Total: 
164) 

0 43 Affordable 
Rent 
283 Social Rent 
15 Home 
Ownership 
13 RTB 
67 Shared 
Ownership 
(Total: 421) 

97 Affordable 
Rent 
1,536 Social 
Rent 
5 EHA 
Homeless 
License 
63 Shared 
Ownership/ 
Equity 
 (Total: 1,701) 

4 Affordable 
Rent 
203 Social 
Rent 
17 Shared 
Ownership 
(Total: 224) 

62 Social 
Rent 
5 Social 
Homebuy 
Shared 
Ownership 
20: Shared 
Ownership 
(Total: 87) 

Do you charge 
affordable rents? 

yes yes yes yes yes yes 

Reason for using 
affordable rents: 

Reinvest 
surplus in 
building 
more 
affordable 
houses 

All new 
developments 
are let on 
affordable rents 

Mandatory 
conversion as 
part of 
development 
agreement/ 
maximize rental 
income 

Section 106 
agreements 

Generation of 
income 

 

Total number of 
stock charged at 
affordable rent 
compared with 
social rent charged 
 

Not 
provided 

As at 18th 
February 2019: 
Social Rent 
General Needs  
2,658 
Social Rents 
Sheltered  429 
Social Rents 
Total  3,087 
(97.9%) 
 
Affordable Rents  
63 
Intermediate 
Rents  2 
Affordable Rents 
Total  65 (2.1%) 

778 Affordable 
and 5173 
social. 

10 48/302  

Total number of 
rent conversions 
on re-let from 
social rent to 
affordable: 

0 0 ? 0 11  

Of these how many 
were outside 
Kendal/Ulverston/ 
Grange over 
Sands/ Kirkby 
Lonsdale/ 
Milnthorpe/ 
/Windermere/ 
Ambleside and 
Sedbergh: 

0 NA 172 affordable 
rents currently 
let in SLDC 
area 

NA 0  

Page  13



 

12 

 

15.4 Whilst the table shows an increase in use of affordable rents, we would request that 

RPs are mindful of the considerations set out in the Tenancy Strategy Update 2019, 

ensuring rent levels do not become unaffordable especially in rural areas (Appendix 

C). 

15.5 The impact of Right to Buy, the fact that there has not been any significant change in 

local incomes and the potential reduction in the private rented sector, reaffirms the 

need to safeguard the number of social rented properties particularly in rural areas. 

Therefore our Strategy continues to seek to influence future conversions of rents to 

affordable rents in order to safeguard low cost and social rented homes for future 

generations. As such our recommendations for our RPs continue to be the same as 

the Tenancy Strategy 2013 (Appendix C). 

16 ‘Voluntary Right to buy’ 

16.1 The pilot projects are due to be completed in 2020. Until we know the outcome of 

these pilots and how it may impact countrywide, we need to ensure communities are 

sustainable and continue to have low cost rented housing particularly in rural areas. 

Our recommendation continues to be that RPs protect rural homes and ensure the 

voluntary right to buy does not occur in those areas. 

17 Registered Provider policy decisions regarding use 

of flexible tenancies 

17.1 Following our survey in January 2019 (Appendix A) only Home Group had been 

using fixed term tenancies, to make best use of housing stock. South Lakes Housing 

intends to use them from February 2019 onwards but only in exceptional 

circumstances, such as part of regeneration or disposals. Both RPs use or intend to 

use 5 year terms. 

17.2  Home Group has granted 38 in the area since 2012, with only one being outside the 

key areas. Of those only 2 have not been renewed and there were due to error and 

tenant moved to be nearer work/school. 

17.3  Eden Housing Association intends to use fixed term tenancies from April 2019 to 

make best use of stock using a 12 month starter tenancy followed by an assured 

tenancy.  

17.4 There are no current intentions for Castles and Coasts Housing Association or 

Impact Housing Association to use fixed term tenancies. 

17.5 We would encourage the continued use of ‘life time’ tenancies in line with the 

Strategy and central Government’s current thinking in order to sustain communities 

particularly in rural areas. Where RPs consider using fixed term tenancies, decisions 

must be made taking our Strategy into account with reference to our 

Page  14



 

13 

recommendations in Appendix C and Appendix B which sets out the circumstances 

whereby an RP could consider ending a fixed term. 

18 Monitoring 

18.1 The Tenancy Strategy will continue to be monitored regularly ensuring it takes into 

account any changes impacting on tenancies. It is expected that RPs will be 

consulted when the Tenancy Strategy is next reviewed in 2024. 

References 

Laying the Foundations: a Housing Strategy for England 2011 

Fixing Our Broken Housing Market 2017 White Paper 

SLDC Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2017 

SLDC Housing Strategy published 2013 

Cumbria Housing Statement 2017 

Localism Act 2011 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

Housing and Planning Act 2016 

The Tenancy Standard 

The Rent Standard (reclassified in Economic Standard) 

Parliamentary Bulletin: 

https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8229  

SLDC Homelessness Review 2018 

SLDC Homelessness Strategy 2019 -2024 

EDC District Wide Housing Need Survey 2018 

EDC Homelessness Review 

Cumbria Choice Project Board Reports 

EDC Completion Statistics 

EDC Key Performance Indicator Statistics 

Valuation Office Agency 

Appendix A – 2019 SLDC Survey of local RPs 

Appendix B – Ending Fixed Term Tenancies - Recommendations  

Page  15

https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8229


 

14 

Appendix C –Tenancy Strategy Recommendations updated 2019 

 

Glossary 

Flexible/ fixed term tenancies: tenancies with a defined fixed term eg: 12 months or 5 years. 

Personalised Plan: an agreement between the Local Authority and the homeless applicant 

setting out steps both parties are required to take to ensure accommodation is secured 

and/or retained. 

Assured Shorthold tenancy: a form of assured tenancy with a minimum security of tenure of 

6 months. 

Lower quartile: a quartile is a quarter of a set of numbers for instance and the lower quartile 

is the list of numbers in the lowest quarter. 

Local Housing Allowance: for private renters, this rate is the figure used to calculate 

Housing Benefit entitlement or Universal Credit element for payment of rent. 

Rural Areas: areas outside of the Key Service Centres of Kendal, Ulverston, Grange over 

Sands, Kirkby Lonsdale, Sedbergh, Windermere and Ambleside. 

 

Page  16



  

 

www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

www.eden.gov.uk 

South Lakeland District Council & 

Eden District Council 

Tenancy Strategy Update 2019 

Appendix 1 

Survey January 2019

Page  17

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


  

ii 
 

Housing Stock Home Group South Lakes 
Housing 

Castles and 
Coasts 

Eden HA Impact  

Total stock in SLDC area: 592 3,152 625 (420 general 
needs) 

63 350 (excluding Shared Ownership 
and Managing Agent properties) 

Date commenced using fixed term tenancies: 01.09.2018 01.02.2019 Not using NA NA 

If you do not already use but intend to use fixed term 
tenancies, state commencement date: 

NA NA No 01.04.2019 NA 

Reason for using fixed term tenancies To promote more 
efficient use of our 
housing stock 

SLH will only 
consider using 
fixed term 
tenancies in 
exceptional 
circumstances ie 
as part of the 
regeneration of an 
estate or where 
properties have 
been ear marked 
for disposal 

NA Efficient 
management of 
stock 

NA 

Time frame offered on fixed term tenancies (following 
completion of any starter tenancy): 

5 years, plus 1 year 
starter period 

5 Years NA 12 month starter – 
converted to 
assured upon 
anniversary 

NA 

How many fixed term tenancies have you granted 
since 2012: 

38 1 NA NA 0 

Of these how many were in areas outside of Kendal, 
Ulverston, Grange over Sands, Kirkby Lonsdale, 
Milnthorpe, Windermere, Ambleside, Sedbergh: 

1 0 NA NA NA 

How many have not been renewed: 2 0 NA NA NA 

Of those not renewed, provide a breakdown of 
reason: 

Set up in error, 
moved nearer to 
work/school 

NA NA NA NA 

Do you charge affordable rents? yes yes Yes yes yes 

P
age  18



 

iii 

Reason for using affordable rents: Reinvest surplus in 
building more 
affordable houses 

All new 
developments are 
let on affordable 
rents 

Mandatory 
conversion as part 
of development 
agreement/ 
maximize rental 
income 

Section 106 
agreements 

Generation of income 

Total number of stock charged at affordable rent 
compared with social rent charged: 

Not provided As at 18th 
February 2019: 
Social Rent 
General Needs  
2,658 
Social Rents 
Sheltered  429 
Social Rents Total  
3,087 (97.9%) 
 
Affordable Rents  
63 
Intermediate 
Rents  2 
Affordable Rents 
Total  65 (2.1%) 

778 Affordable and 
5173 social. 

10 48/302 

Total number of rent conversions on re-let from social 
rent to affordable: 

0 0 ? 0 11 

Of these how many were outside Kendal/Ulverston/ 
Grange over Sands/ Kirkby Lonsdale/ Milnthorpe/ 
/Windermere/ Ambleside and Sedbergh: 

0 NA 172 affordable 
rents currently let in 
SLDC area 

NA 0 

P
age  19



  

iv 
 

Appendix B 

Fixed Term and Flexible tenancies 

Set out below are the kinds of circumstances whereby a RP could consider ending a fixed 

term tenancy and factors the RP should have regard to. However, we would only expect 

these to be applied in a minority of cases. 

A. The property is adapted and the current tenant does not need the adaptations and the 

Registered Provider is aware of a household who does. Similarly where the property is 

suitable for elderly people (bungalow/sheltered housing) and occupied by a household who 

does not need this type of accommodation and the Registered Provider is aware of a 

household who does. 

Factors to consider; Is there suitable alternative housing for the current tenant to move into 

thereby eliminating the risk of homelessness? The type of adaptations (can they be 

removed easily or not?) NB by suitable; is alternative housing accessible to work/ 

schools/connections and suitable size for the household’s needs? 

B. The property is now under occupied. 

Factors to consider; Is there suitable alternative housing for the current tenant to move into 

thereby eliminating the risk of homelessness? Could there be suitable mutual exchange? 

C. The property is now overcrowded. 

Factors to consider; Is there suitable alternative housing for the current tenant to move into 

thereby eliminating the risk of homelessness? Could there be suitable mutual exchange? 

D. The household is able to meet their needs on the open market?  

Factors to consider; Is there suitable alternative housing for the current tenant to move into 

thereby eliminating the risk of homelessness? Would the household be eligible to buy/rent 

an affordable home? Housing options advice to be given. 

E. The household has engaged in anti-social and/or criminal behaviour. 

Factors to consider; Have all support options been explored and utilised, for example, 

floating support, liaison with statutory agencies such as Police, Probation, Education, 

Children’s Services etc. Is there suitable alternative housing available? 

F. The property is part of a disposal or refurbishment plan. 

Factors to consider; Make best use of assets. 

G. The tenant is in significant arrears and is not engaging with the Landlord to reduce the 

arrears. 

Page  20



 

v 

Factors to consider; Have support options been considered, for example, floating support 

and contact with the Housing Options Team. Is there suitable alternative housing available? 

  

Page  21



 

vi 

Appendix C 

Recommendations 

Flexible/Fixed Term Tenancies 

 That on review in the majority of cases these tenancies should be renewed in order 

to maintain stable communities, except for those circumstances in Appendix B 

 When allocating fixed-term tenancies RPs should be clear on the circumstances 

whereby the tenancy is to be renewed or terminated with the incoming tenant(s).  

 RPs should take part in the initiative to set up an early warning system under the 

Homelessness Strategy for all tenancies that may not be renewed or where the 

household is struggling to maintain the tenancy due to rent arrears and/or anti-social 

behaviour. Such a system will ensure that Housing Options Teams can apply early 

interventions such as floating support, debt advice etc to prevent homelessness. 

 RPs will need to consider the review process and have a system in place to carry out 

a review of a flexible tenancy as required by the Localism Act.  

 Older people living in extra care and sheltered housing and people living in 

supported housing should not be granted a flexible tenancy. People living in 

supported housing are most likely to be on a licence.  

 RPs should consider not granting flexible tenancies to households with school age 

children, unless the tenancy can be automatically renewed so that there is stability in 

the schooling. 

 In order to maintain stable communities in rural areas we would not expect flexible 

tenancies to be used outside of the Key Service Centres of Kendal, Ulverston, 

Grange over Sands, Kirkby Lonsdale, Sedbergh, Windermere, Ambleside, Alston, 

Appleby, Kirkby Stephen and Penrith) except in a minority of cases where this may 

be appropriate.  

RPs should discuss options around shared ownership and discounted sale 

properties with households when undertaking a review of the tenancy. This would 

assist households who are able to benefit from these options as well as releasing a 

rented property for those households in need of it.  

 Flexible/fixed term tenancies should be for no less than five years  

Tenancy Policies 

 RPs should review their Tenancy Policy should Government Regulations stipulate 

that they can charge the full rent if a household earns in excess of the prescribed 

amount (this is yet to be determined). 

 

 

Page  22



 

vii 

Regulation of Social Housing 

 We are keen to ensure that RPs have consistent standards in place in relation to 

regulation by working collaboratively.  

 Tenants should be consulted on any changes to take account of the reduced role of 

the Government in this regard.  

 RPs to stipulate in their Tenancy Policies how the regulatory process will work in 

practice, including the role of tenants.  

 Providers are encouraged to make use of training from organisations such as the 

Tenant Participatory Advisory Service who run regulation training for tenants and 

staff.  

 RPs need to take account of and co-operate with the strategic housing role of local 

authorities, for example by making homes available for the homeless. 

Allocating Affordable and Social Rented Properties 

 The Allocation Policy (Cumbria Choice) is regularly reviewed and consideration be 

given in future for affordable rented properties to be allocated to households who are 

not solely reliant on housing benefit and who may be working already. Checks are 

carried out by RPs to ensure that the rents can be afforded by the ingoing tenant(s) 

before an offer is made 

 Consideration be given to how social rented homes are allocated under Cumbria 

Choice to ensure they are let to those households in greatest need of the lower rent  

 Statistics are gathered showing vacancy reasons and any properties that become 

vacant more than once are highlighted. 

Affordable Rent Conversions 

 There should be a limit on the number of relets that are converted to affordable rents 

to maintain a supply of social rented homes. It is recommended that RPs consult the 

Council when considering how many conversions will take place in future bidding 

rounds with Homes England.  

 Where conversions are being considered RPs should consult with the Council 

concerning the percentage of rent to be charged. This is due to the fact that there are 

likely to be existing planning obligations that may restrict rent set out within Section 

106 agreements or covenants. Additionally, the Council will advise on local income 

levels in particular localities to ensure that the affordable rents are affordable. 

 Larger 3 and 4 bedroom properties should remain within the Local Housing 

Allowance limits to ensure future affordability in light of Universal Credit 

 Ingoing tenants should receive advice and guidance on affordability to ensure that 

they can afford the rents. 

 Tenants who begin to struggle to meet rent payments should be referred to the 

Housing Options Team for advice and guidance to reduce and prevent 

homelessness. 

Page  23



 

viii 

 Ensure that a range of property types are available for both social rent and affordable 

rent. 

 Conversions should in most cases be limited to key service centres, i.e. Kendal, 

Ulverston, Grange over Sands, Kirkby Lonsdale, Milnthorpe, Windermere, Ambleside 

and Sedbergh, where there is a greater number of relets, thus protecting the 

sustainability and affordability of rural localities. 

New Build Affordable Rented Properties 

 RPs should continue to consult the Council’s Strategic Housing dept with regard to 

affordable rents so these can be based on local income data. 

 RPs should explore other avenues of providing social rented properties without 

Homes England funding 

 RPs should look to the Council’s statements reflected in the Core Strategy relating to 

affordable prices for new build properties. This is based on our SHMA 2017. 

Under occupancy and Overcrowding 

 RPs to set up a system to map the number of under occupying households and 

contact tenants to discuss their needs and aspirations, for example tenancy audits 

 RPs to encourage tenants to access the national home swapper scheme and other 

options such as working with other local RPs to publicise and enable mutual 

exchanges or other moves, for example a matching service to match under 

occupying households with overcrowded households (right size package) 

 Where one or each party has arrears this should not preclude them from a mutual 

exchange, particularly where a household is affected by welfare reform, in order to 

improve under occupancy and overcrowding issues 

 RPs consider allowing tenants to take in lodgers where appropriate and where this is 

not already offered under the terms of the Tenancy Agreement 

 RPs consider incentive schemes (unless this is already offered) that offer assistance 

(such as organising removals/connections/informing utilities etc, handyman for 

putting up curtains, shelves and other small jobs in the new home, small scale 

decorating charges covered) and/or financial support to enable under occupiers to 

move 

 RPs consider publicising the scheme to encourage take up, for example using flyers, 

tenant newsletters, web-site, holding events on housing options particularly geared 

around older people 

 RPs could seek referrals from adult social care, Citizens’ Advice Bureau etc to be 

made aware of tenants who are struggling to meet their bills so they can be made 

aware of options to downsize and reduce outgoings 

 Review priority under the allocations scheme (Cumbria Choice) for under occupiers 

to allow greater priority to move 

 In certain circumstances, RPs may wish to allow under occupancy by no more than 

one bedroom. For example, for a household who requires a carer to stay overnight 

on occasions 

Page  24



 

ix 

 RPs carry out regular audits of tenants to reveal under occupiers and households 

who are overcrowded 

 During a review of a flexible tenancy, overcrowded tenants could be assisted to 

move to alternative accommodation either via a mutual exchange or through bidding 

through Cumbria Choice or obtaining private rented or low cost home ownership 

options. 

Tenancy Fraud 

 RPs carry out regular audits of tenants to reveal cases of tenancy fraud 

 RPs encourage neighbours to report suspected incidents of fraud, for example 

through tenant newsletters, web-site and posters 

 Information is sought from energy companies where fraud is suspected in line with 

regulations to oblige energy companies to release this information. 

Succession and assignment 

 RPs ensure tenancy agreements comply with their tenancy policies in respect of 

assignment and succession 

 In making changes to a tenancy agreement that RPs follow the correct legal process 

 Where a household does not qualify to succeed to a tenancy or have a tenancy 

assigned to them, it is recommended that RPs contact Housing Options Teams at 

the earliest possible convenience so that options can be explored to prevent 

homelessness. 

Voluntary Right to Buy (new) 

 RPs ensure that properties in designated rural areas are protected from the 

Voluntary Right to Buy. 

Page  25



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Joint Tenancy Strategy Update (with SLDC)
	Appendix2_JointTenancyStrategyUpdateAppendices


